

**TITLE 114
LEGISLATIVE RULE
INSURANCE COMMISSIONER**

**SERIES 103
BAIL BONDSMEN IN CRIMINAL CASES**

Section

- 114-103-1. General.
- 114-103-2. Definitions.
- 114-103-3. License Required and Qualifications for Licensure.
- 114-103-4. License Renewal.
- 114-103-5. Responsibilities and Prohibited Activities.
- 114-103-6. Qualifications of Sureties on Bail.
- 114-103-7. Receipts for Collateral.
- 114-103-8. Financial Responsibility of Professional Bondsmen.
- 114-103-9. Cash Securities Held in Trust.
- 114-103-10. Discontinuance of Business; Cancellation of License; Death, Incapacitation or Incompetence of Bail Bondsman.
- 114-103-11. License Suspension and Revocation.
- 114-103-12. Notice of Bankruptcy or Receivership.
- 114-103-13. Examinations.
- 114-103-14. Records.
- 114-103-15. Reporting.
- 114-103-16. Penalties for Violations.

Attachments

~~Form A—Title Certificate for Bond~~

~~Form B—Notice of Bond Encumbrance~~

TITLE 114
LEGISLATIVE RULE
INSURANCE COMMISSIONER

SERIES 103
BAIL BONDSMEN IN CRIMINAL CASES

§114-103-1. General.

1.1. Scope. -- The purpose and intent of this rule is to provide for the qualifications a person must have when applying to be a bail bondsman, and to set the terms and conditions upon which the bonding business may be conducted in West Virginia.

1.2. Authority. -- W. Va. Code §§33-2-10 and 51-10-8.

1.3. Filing Date. -- ~~March 29, 2023.~~

1.4. Effective Date. -- ~~April 1, 2023.~~

1.5. Sunset Provision. -- This rule shall terminate and have no further force or effect upon August 1, ~~2028~~ 2034.

§114-103-2. Definitions.

2.1. "Agent," "clerk" or "representative" of a bail bondsman means a person employed by a licensed bail bondsman for the purpose of assisting the bondsman in presenting a defendant in court or, if a power of attorney has been duly executed, issuing bonds on behalf of the ~~licensed~~ bondsman. An agent, clerk or representative of a bail bondsman who is engaged in the bonding business must be licensed by the Commissioner as provided by this rule.

2.2. "Bond" means an appearance bond for a specified monetary amount which is executed by the defendant and a licensed bondsman pursuant to the provisions of this rule and which is issued to a court as security for the subsequent court appearance of the defendant upon release from custody pending the appearance.

2.3. "Bonding business" means the business of becoming surety for compensation upon bonds in criminal cases in the State of West Virginia.

2.4. "Bondsman" or "bail ~~bondsmen~~ bondsman" means any person who is engaged in bonding business and is approved and licensed under the provisions of this rule as a professional bondsman, as defined by section 2.9 of this rule, or surety bondsman, as defined by section 2.11 of this rule.

2.4.1. ~~Engaged in the bonding business who has satisfied the requirements for, and is duly licensed as, an insurance producer with a property and casualty line of authority as set forth by the Commissioner and W. Va. Code §33-12-1 et seq.; or~~

2.4.2. ~~Who is approved and licensed under the provisions of W. Va. Code §51-10-1 et seq. and who pledges cash or approved securities with the Commissioner as security for bail bonds written in connection with a judicial proceeding and receives or is promised money or other things of value for the pledge.~~

2.5. "Cash" means a personal or business check, a money order, or cashier's check.

2.6. "Commissioner" means the Insurance Commissioner of West Virginia.

2.7. "Insurer" means any domestic, foreign or alien ~~person~~ insurance company, including a surety company, which has been qualified generally to transact surety business in the State of West Virginia.

2.8. "Person" means ~~any an individual company, association, organization, society, reciprocal, partnership, syndicate, business trust, corporation or any other legal entity.~~

2.9. "Professional bondsman" means any person who has been approved and licensed by the Commissioner, and who pledges cash, an irrevocable letter of credit, ~~an annuity purchased through an insurance company licensed and in good standing in this State~~, a bond issued by an insurance company licensed and in good standing in this State, or real estate with the Commissioner as security for bail bonds written in connection with a judicial proceeding, and charges, receives or is promised money or other things of value in exchange for his or her services.

2.10. "Securities" or "approved securities" means cash, an irrevocable letter of credit, ~~an annuity purchased through an insurance company licensed and in good standing in this State~~, a bond issued by an insurance company licensed and in good standing in this State, a qualified power of attorney issued by an insurer pursuant to a producer underwriting agreement, or real estate located in this State that is unencumbered in, at least, the amount of minimum financial responsibility required as set forth in this rule.

2.11. "Surety bondsman" means a person who:

2.11.1. Has been approved and licensed by the Commissioner as an insurance producer with a property and casualty line of authority and appointed by an insurer to execute or countersign bail bonds for the insurer through a qualified power of attorney in connection with judicial proceedings and charges, receives or is promised money or other things of value in exchange for his or her services; or

2.11.2. Posts approved security by providing the Commissioner with a qualified power of attorney issued by an insurer pursuant to a producer underwriting agreement and being approved and licensed by the Commissioner as an insurance producer with a limited lines surety line of authority and appointed by an insurer to execute or countersign bail bonds for the insurer in connection with judicial proceedings and charges, receives or is promised money or other things of value in exchange for his or her services.

§114-103-3. License Required and Qualifications for Licensure.

3.1. On or after July 1, 2022, a person may not engage in the bonding business or act in the capacity of a bail bondsman, or perform any of the functions, duties or powers prescribed for bail bondsmen, unless that person ~~shall be~~ is qualified and licensed by the Commissioner as provided in this rule.

3.1.1. None of the provisions or terms of this rule shall prohibit any individual or individuals from pledging real or other property as security for a bail bond for himself, herself, or another in judicial proceedings who does not charge or receive, or is not promised, a fee or other thing of value in exchange for his or her services, provided such person shall not be permitted to make in excess of ten bonds per year.

3.2. A person seeking a license under this rule shall apply on a form, as located at www.wvinsurance.gov, and in a manner prescribed by the Commissioner and shall comply with the provisions of W. Va. Code §33-12-37 regarding criminal history record checks.

3.2.1. The application shall provide the following information:

~~3.2.1.a. If the applicant is an individual:~~

~~3.2.1.a.1. 3.2.1.a.~~ The person's home and business address, home and business phone number, email address, and current occupation;

~~3.2.1.a.2. 3.2.1.b.~~ That the applicant is at least 21 years of age;

~~3.2.1.a.3. 3.2.1.c.~~ That the applicant is a citizen of the United States;

~~3.2.1.a.4. 3.2.1.d.~~ If the applicant has been authorized to post criminal bonds in this State previously, or any other state or jurisdiction, a statement as to whether the applicant has ever had a bond forfeited and the name, address and phone number of a person to contact concerning the same;

~~3.2.1.a.5. 3.2.1.e.~~ Whether the applicant is in default in payment of any forfeited bail bond or recognizance in any court in any jurisdiction, the amount of bail bond or recognizance on any default, the date of forfeiture, the name of the court, and style of the case in which the forfeiture was declared;

~~3.2.1.a.6. 3.2.1.f.~~ That the applicant has knowledge, training or experience of sufficient duration and extent to prove the competence necessary to fulfill the responsibility of a bondsman;

~~3.2.1.a.7. 3.2.1.g.~~ That the applicant holds a valid and current driver's license or identification card;

~~3.2.1.a.8. 3.2.1.h.~~ That the applicant has not been previously convicted of, or pled guilty or no contest to, any felony crime that substantially relates to the occupation of a bail bondsman;

~~3.2.1.a.9. 3.2.1.i.~~ The charge, date, court and disposition of any offense, felony or misdemeanor, other than a minor traffic offense, for which the applicant has ever been convicted;

~~3.2.1.a.10. 3.2.1.j.~~ An affidavit from the applicant that he or she has read and understands, and will in all respects abide by, the provisions of this rule and W. Va. Code §51-10-1 *et seq.*; and

~~3.2.1.a.11. 3.2.1.k.~~ A list showing the name, age and residence of each person employed by the bondsman as an agent, clerk, or representative in the bonding business. This list must be updated with the Commissioner within 10 working days every time a person employed by the bondsman as a bondsman, agent, clerk or representative begins or leaves employment. ~~For each person appearing on the list, the applicant shall submit an affidavit from the person stating that he or she will abide by the terms and provisions of this rule and W. Va. Code §51-10-1 *et seq.*~~

~~3.2.1.b. 3.2.2.~~ If the applicant is applying for licensure as a surety bondsman, in addition to the information required pursuant to ~~subdivision 3.2.1.a~~ subsection 3.2.1 of this rule, the applicant shall also provide:

~~3.2.1.b.1. 3.2.2.a.~~ The applicant's National Producer Number;

~~3.2.1.b.2. 3.2.2.b.~~ Notice of appointment from each insurer that the applicant is authorized by power of attorney to execute or countersign bail bonds for; and

~~3.2.1.b.3. 3.2.2.c.~~ A qualifying power of attorney from an insurer that is in good standing with the Commissioner to conduct business in this State and is authorized to post criminal appearance bonds.

~~3.2.1.e.~~ 3.2.3. If the applicant is applying for licensure as a professional bondsman, in addition to the information required pursuant to ~~subdivision 3.2.1.a~~ subsection 3.2.1 of this rule, the applicant shall also provide:

~~3.2.1.e.1.~~ 3.2.3.a. A deposit of cash or approved securities with the Commissioner of an amount to be determined by the Commissioner in accordance with sections 8.1 and 8.2 of this rule, but shall in no circumstance be less than \$10,000;

~~3.2.1.e.2.~~ 3.2.3.b. An applicant for a professional ~~bondsmen~~ bondsman license may make the required deposit by cash, irrevocable letter of credit, or by purchasing a bond ~~or annuity~~ through an insurance company licensed and in good standing in this State. All bonds ~~annuities~~, and irrevocable letters of credit must be on a form approved by the Commissioner and must permit the Commissioner to draw down the entire amount, if necessary, to secure the bondsman's obligations.

~~3.2.1.e.3.~~ 3.2.3.c. In lieu of cash, bond or irrevocable letter of credit, ~~or annuity~~, if an applicant for a professional ~~bondsmen~~ bondsman license uses real estate as security for the bonding authority, the applicant shall have an attorney admitted to practice in this State prepare a Title Certificate for Bond ~~as depicted on the form attached to this rule (Form A)~~ on an approved form, as located at www.wvinsurance.gov, that he or she has examined the title to the real estate and that record title to said real estate is in the name of the applicant subject to the limitations stated within such certificate.

~~3.2.1.e.3.a.~~ 3.2.3.c.1. The applicant shall submit the following signed declaration with the Title Certificate for Bond: "In the event this application is granted, the applicant will not sell, convey, mortgage or otherwise encumber any of the real estate or other property listed on the Title Certificate for Bond, except the posting of criminal appearance bonds, without first obtaining written approval of the Insurance Commissioner."

~~3.2.1.e.3.b.~~ 3.2.3.c.2. If licensure is approved, the bondsman shall deliver to, and have recorded in, the Office of the Clerk of the County Commission in the county wherein the real estate is located a Notice of Bond Encumbrance ~~as depicted on the form attached to this rule (Form B)~~ on an approved form, as located at www.wvinsurance.gov. The recording fee shall be payable by the licensee.

3.2.3.c.3. A pledge of real estate by a professional bondsman as an approved security shall not be permitted after July 1, 2024. However, a professional bondsman who is licensed by the Commissioner as of July 1, 2024, and has pledged real estate as security to conduct bonding business may continue to use real estate as collateral to operate as a bondsman until his or her license is voluntarily surrendered or revoked by the Commissioner.

~~3.2.1.d.~~ If the applicant is a corporation, the applicant shall provide:

~~3.2.1.d.1.~~ A copy of the corporation's articles of incorporation;

~~3.2.1.d.2.~~ Evidence showing that said corporation is authorized to do business in the State of West Virginia;

~~3.2.1.d.3.~~ A certificate of good standing from the West Virginia Secretary of State;

~~3.2.1.d.4.~~ The name, phone number and email address of the corporate representative that the Commissioner may contact, if necessary; and

~~3.2.1.d.5.~~ A list showing the name, age and residence of each person employed by the corporation as a bondsman, agent, clerk, or representative in the bonding business. This list must be updated with the Commissioner within 10 working days every time a person employed by the corporation as a bondsman, agent, clerk or representative begins or leaves employment.

~~3.2.1.d.5.A. For each person appearing on the list set forth in paragraph 3.2.1.d.5 of this rule, the applicant shall submit an affidavit from the person stating that he or she will abide by the terms and provisions of this rule and W. Va. Code §51-10-1 et seq.~~

3.3. The Commissioner may require any documents reasonably necessary to verify the information in the application and may propound any reasonable interrogatories to an applicant for a license, or on any renewal thereof, relating to qualifications, residence, prospective place of business, and any other matters which, in the opinion of the Commissioner, are deemed necessary or expedient in order to protect the public and ascertain the qualifications of the applicant. The Commissioner may also conduct any reasonable inquiry or investigation relative to the determination of the fitness of the applicant to be licensed or to continue to be licensed including, but not limited to, requiring a criminal history record check as set forth in W. Va. Code §33-12-37. The Commissioner shall keep all documents, material or other information obtained pursuant to section 3 of this rule confidential and said information is not open to public inspection and exempt from disclosure pursuant to subpoena or Chapter 29B of the West Virginia Code. The Commissioner is authorized to use the documents, materials, or other information in furtherance of any regulatory or legal action brought as part of the Commissioner's official duties.

3.4. The application fee for a bail bondsman license is \$200, every two years, which shall be paid at the time of application and renewal. The application fee is nonrefundable. Failure to pay the fee at the time of application shall result in a denial of the license. The application fee for a bail ~~bondsman~~ bondsman license is in addition to any applicable licensure fee paid by an insurance producer, adjuster, insurer, or other business entity. ~~The fee is the same for individual applicants and for corporations.~~

3.5. A person whose application is denied may reapply, but the Commissioner shall not consider more than one application submitted by the same person within a six-month period.

3.6. The Commissioner shall establish a process for issuing an official picture identification card to a licensed bail ~~bondsman~~ bondsman, which, when issued, must be carried by the bail ~~bondsman~~ bondsman at all times when working in the scope of the licensee's employment or occupation as a bail bondsman. A bail bondsman whose license has been revoked, or is otherwise expired or terminated, shall return the picture identification card to the Commissioner within 10 working days. The Commissioner may coordinate with the Division of Motor Vehicles to issue the identification cards described herein if necessary.

3.7. A license issued to a bail bondsman authorizes the licensee to act in that capacity until the license is expired, suspended, or revoked.

3.8. A bail bondsman who employs an agent, clerk or representative may cancel the agent's, clerk's or representative's authority to act for the bail bondsman. When a bail bondsman cancels an agent's, clerk's or representative's authority, the bail bondsman must notify the Commissioner, in writing, within 10 working days.

3.9. If an individual holds a professional bondsman's license and a surety bondsman's license simultaneously, they are considered one license for the purpose of disciplinary actions involving suspension or revocation or nonrenewal. However, separate application and renewal fees must be paid for each license.

3.10. ~~The Commissioner shall not license a business entity as a bail bondsman unless each owner and/or shareholder is individually licensed as a bail bondsman. A licensed business entity must designate with the Commissioner one individually licensed bail bondsman as the designated responsible licensee. Beginning July 1, 2024, the competency of a person applying to the Commissioner for a bail bondsman license shall be determined by examination. A person who is licensed as a bondsman by the Commissioner on or before June 30, 2024, is exempt from the examination requirement. The examination shall test the knowledge of the person concerning the duties and responsibilities of a person engaged in the bonding~~

business and the applicable laws and rules of this state. The examination shall be a multiple-choice test with at least 25 questions, but no more than 50 questions. A person must answer at least 80% of the questions correctly to successfully pass the examination. Each examinee shall pay a \$25 fee for each examination to the Commissioner who shall deposit said examination fee into the state treasury for the benefit of the state fund, general revenue.

3.10.1. Any applicant who held a West Virginia bail bondsman license prior to July 1, 2024, but who allowed his or her license to expire while in good standing with the Commissioner, is exempted from examination upon reapplication so long as the application is made within one year of the expiration date of the applicant's license, and further provided that the applicant was not under investigation by the Commissioner for wrongdoing at the time his or her license expired.

3.10.2. Any bail bondsman whose license was suspended or revoked for violation of this rule shall be required to pass a competency test upon any application for re-licensure.

3.10.3. The Commissioner may, at his or her discretion, designate an independent testing service to prepare and administer the examination subject to the direction of, and approval by, the Commissioner. Any examination fees charged by the service shall be paid by the applicant. In addition to examination fees charged by the independent testing service, the independent testing service shall collect and remit to the Commissioner the \$25 examination fee as required by section 3.10 of this rule.

3.11. A bail bondsman must notify the Commissioner of a change of legal name, residence address, business address, mailing address, e-mail address, or telephone number within 30 days after a change is made.

§114-103-4. License Renewal.

4.1. Bail bondsman licenses shall be renewed biennially (every two years) by the last day of the birth month of the bondsman, unless revoked or suspended prior thereto by the Commissioner. The expiration year will be established based upon the year of initial licensure. ~~Licenses issued to business entities shall renew on July 1 of the expiration year, which is established based upon the year of initial licensure.~~

4.2. The renewal fee for a bail ~~bondsman~~ bondsman license is \$200. The renewal fee is nonrefundable.

4.3. The renewal application shall ~~provide~~ include an attestation that the applicant meets the qualifications as set forth in section 3 of this rule.

4.4. The Commissioner shall require a criminal history record check of the licensee at the time of renewal in accordance with W. Va. Code §33-12-37.

§114-103-5. Responsibilities and Prohibited Activities.

5.1. The bonding fee required by a bail bondsman shall be at least 10 percent of the amount of the bond, but shall not, in the aggregate, exceed the amount of the bond. The bonding fee may be paid in full at the time of the issuance of the bond, or at least three percent paid at the issuance of the bond with the remaining percentage to be paid over a period not to exceed 12 months.

5.2. A bail bondsman, or any agent, clerk, or representative thereof shall not, either directly or indirectly, charge, accept, or receive any sum of money, or other thing of value, other than the authorized bonding fee from any person for whom he or she has posted or executed bond, for any other service whatsoever performed in connection with any indictment or charge upon which said person is bailed or held in the State of West Virginia.

5.3. A bail bondsman, or any agent, clerk or representative thereof, shall not, either directly or

indirectly, give, donate, lend, contribute or promise to give, donate, loan, or contribute any money, property, entertainment, or other thing of value whatsoever to any attorney, police officer, sheriff, deputy sheriff, constable, jailer, probation officer, clerk, or other attaché of a criminal court, or public official of any character for procuring or assisting in procuring any person to employ said bail bondsman to execute as surety any bond for compensation in any criminal case in the State of West Virginia. It shall further be unlawful for any attorney, police officer, sheriff, deputy sheriff, constable, jailer, probation officer, clerk, bailiff, or other attaché of a criminal court, or public official of any character, to accept or receive from any bail bondsman, or any agent, clerk, or representative thereof, money, property, entertainment, or other thing of value whatsoever for procuring or assisting in procuring any person to employ any bondsman to execute as surety any bond for compensation in any criminal case in the State of West Virginia.

5.4. A bail bondsman, or any agent, clerk, or representative thereof, shall not settle, attempt to settle, procure, or attempt to procure the dismissal of any indictment, information, or charge against any person in custody or held upon bond in the State of West Virginia, with any court, prosecuting attorney or police officer.

5.5. A bail bondsman, or any agent, clerk, or representative thereof, shall not procure, assist in procuring or attempt to procure the retention or employment of any attorney to represent any person charged with a crime in any court in this State. A bail bondsman shall not accept from any attorney, either directly or indirectly, a loan, donation, contribution, or promise to give, loan, donate, or contribute any money, property, entertainment, or other thing of value whatsoever to, or to split or divide any fee or commission with, any attorney for causing or procuring or assisting in causing or procuring any person to employ such attorney in any criminal case in the State of West Virginia.

5.6. A bail bondsman shall not have or attempt to have a personal relationship, which includes but is not limited to any type of a sexual relationship, with any person for whom the bail bondsman has posted a bond for the period during which the bond is posted regardless of whether said personal relationship is consensual or not. A bail bondsman is prohibited from accepting or attempting to obtain any type of personal service, favor, or nonmonetary item in lieu of payment for bond. This section is not subject to waiver by anyone under any circumstances.

5.7. A bail bondsman is prohibited from initiating contact with persons for whom arrest warrants are pending for the purpose of soliciting business.

5.8. A bail bondsman, or any agent, clerk, or representative thereof, is prohibited from entering a police precinct, jail, prison, court or other place of detention for the purpose of obtaining employment as a bail bondsman, without having been previously contacted by a person detained, or by some relative, or other authorized person acting for or on behalf of the person detained. Whenever a bail bondsman, or any agent, clerk, or representative thereof, enters a place of detention, he or she shall immediately identify the purpose of the visit and the name of the person who has contacted him or her to request their services.

5.9. No single bond shall be taken or approved which obligates the bail bondsman in any amount exceeding one-half of the bondsman's maximum amount of bonding authority.

5.10. A bail bondsman, or any agent, clerk or representative thereof, shall not impersonate a law enforcement officer or falsely represent that the bondsman is in any way connected with an agency of the federal, state or local government.

5.11. No police officer, sheriff, deputy sheriff, other law enforcement officer, judicial official, attorney, parole officer, probation officer, jailer, clerk, or other attaché of a criminal court may become surety on a bail bond for any person. In addition, no person covered by this section may act as an agent, clerk or representative for any bail bondsman or bail bonding business. No such person may have an interest, directly or indirectly, in the financial affairs of any firm or corporation whose principal business is acting as a bail bondsman. However, nothing in this section prohibits any such person from being surety upon the

bond of his or her spouse, parent, brother, sister, child, grandchild, or dependent.

5.12. A bail bondsman shall not sign or countersign in blank bail bonds, nor shall he give a power of attorney to, or otherwise authorize, anyone to countersign his or her name to bonds unless the person so authorized is a licensed bondsman ~~or agent, clerk or representative directly employed by the bondsman giving such power of attorney.~~

§114-103-6. Qualifications of Sureties on Bail.

6.1. Each and every surety for the release of a person on bail shall be qualified as:

6.1.1. An insurer and represented by a surety bondsman; or

6.1.2. A professional bondsman.

6.2. The Commissioner shall not be liable for any of the incurred liabilities of a ~~surety~~ bondsman in excess of the surety.

§114-103-7. Receipts for Collateral.

7.1. When collateral ~~or~~ security is received by a bail bondsman, a written receipt shall be furnished.

7.2. Receipts shall provide a full description of the collateral received and must:

7.2.1. Be prenumbered and used and provided in consecutive numerical order;

7.2.2. Show the name and address of the bail bondsman;

7.2.3. Show the name and address of the person providing the collateral;

7.2.4. Show the amount and nature of the collateral and the date received;

7.2.5. Show the name of the person accepting collateral; and

7.2.6. Show the total amount of the bond for which the collateral is being accepted, the name of the defendant, the criminal action number of the criminal proceeding, and the jurisdiction in which the criminal action is pending.

7.3. When collateral security is received in the form of cash or check or other negotiable instrument, the bail bondsman shall deposit the cash or instrument within five banking days after receipt, in an established, separate noninterest-bearing trust account in any bank located in West Virginia. The trust account funds under this section shall not be commingled with other operating funds of the bondsman.

§114-103-8. Financial Responsibility of Professional Bondsmen.

8.1. Each professional bondsman acting as surety on bail bonds in this State shall, unless real estate is used as security, maintain a deposit of approved securities with and satisfactory to the Commissioner of a value of at least one-tenth the amount of all bonds or undertakings written in this State on which he or she is absolutely or conditionally liable as of the first day of the current month. The amount of this deposit must be reconciled with the bondsman's liabilities as of the first day of each month, but the value of said deposit shall in no event be less than \$10,000. The Commissioner shall not be liable for any of the incurred liabilities of the professional bondsman in excess of the pledged ~~cash~~ security.

8.2. If a professional bondsman secures criminal bonds with real estate, the aggregate amount of the

bonds written thereunder cannot exceed an amount equal to five times the unencumbered, current assessed value of the real estate listed (as determined by the county assessor). The Commissioner shall not be liable for any of the incurred liabilities of the professional bondsman in excess of the unencumbered, current assessed value of the real estate.

8.3. A professional bondsman may apply to the Commissioner to increase the limit of his or her aggregate authority in regard to the writing of bonds in this State above the limits set forth in sections 8.1 and 8.2 of this rule without the need for maintaining additional security. The Commissioner will evaluate those requests on a case-by-case basis with consideration given to any special circumstances that apply, as well as the license history and financial responsibility of the bondsman making the request. A request may be granted on a temporary or permanent basis. Additionally, the Commissioner may, temporarily or permanently, decrease the limit of a professional bondsman's aggregate authority to write bonds below the limits set forth in sections 8.1 and 8.2 of this rule if the bondsman has shown financial irresponsibility in the conduct of bonding business in this State. A professional bondsman may request a hearing pursuant to W. Va. Code §§33-2-12 and 33-2-13 upon any decision of the Commissioner to deny a request to increase the bondsman's aggregate authority or decrease the bondsman's aggregate authority in regard to the writing of bonds in this State.

8.4. If two or more bondsmen join in the writing of a single bond, the penalty of the bond shall be prorated between the several bondsmen, either equally or on the same proportionate basis as the bondsmen ~~participate~~ participated in the writing of the bond.

8.5. With the approved securities deposited with the Commissioner, the professional bondsman shall at the same time deliver to the Commissioner a power of attorney or assignment on an approved form, as located at www.wvinsurance.gov, ~~supplied by the Commissioner~~, executed and acknowledged by the professional bondsman authorizing the sale or transfer of said securities or any part thereof.

8.6. Any professional bondsman, whose security deposits with the Commissioner are, for any reason, reduced in value below the requirements of this rule shall, within ~~ten~~ 10 working days, deposit such additional securities as are necessary to comply with the provisions of this rule or reduce the excess bond liability. No professional bondsman shall sign, endorse, execute, or become surety on any additional bail bonds, or pledge or deposit any cash, check, or other security of any nature in lieu of a bail bond in this State until the professional bondsman has cured the deficiency. If a bondsman does not cure the deficiency within ~~ten~~ 10 working days, the license of the bondsman shall be suspended pending a hearing on the matter.

8.7. The Commissioner may deny the renewal of any license held by a professional bondsman if, at the time of the renewal application, the professional bondsman has not complied with or cured a deficiency.

8.8. The deposit provided for in section 8.1 of this rule shall constitute a reserve available to meet sums due on forfeiture of any bonds executed by the bondsman. The deposit shall be held in safekeeping by the Commissioner and shall only be used if a bondsman fails to pay an order and judgment of forfeiture after being properly notified, or shall be used if the license of a professional bondsman has been revoked.

8.9. A pro rata portion of the securities shall be returned to the bondsman when the Commissioner is satisfied that the deposit of securities is in excess of the amount required to be maintained with the Commissioner by said bondsman, and all the securities shall be returned if the Commissioner is satisfied that the bondsman has satisfied, or satisfactory arrangements have been made to satisfy, the obligations of the bondsman on all the bondsman's bail bonds written in this State.

8.10. If a bondsman discontinues writing bonds due to death, permanent incapacitation, or some other circumstance that results in the bondsman returning the license issued, and the Commissioner is satisfied that no more bonds can be written against the bondsman's security deposit, the Commissioner shall return the portion of the security deposit in excess of that required to secure the bondsman's outstanding bond liability.

§114-103-9. Cash Securities Held in Trust.

9.1. Cash securities deposited by a professional bondsman with the Commissioner shall be held in trust for the protection and benefit of the holder of bail bonds executed by or on behalf of the bondsman in this State. The account shall be a separate account in the State Treasury designated the "Bail Bondsmen Cash Security Fund" and shall be administered by the Commissioner as set forth in section 9.2 of this rule.

9.2. The Commissioner may expend any and all cash securities or utilize the proceeds thereof for the purpose of satisfying the liabilities of the professional bondsman who pledged the cash security on bail bonds given in this State on which the bondsman is liable, but shall only be used if the bondsman fails to pay an order and judgment of forfeiture after being properly notified. The Commissioner shall not expend cash security pledged by one bondsman for the liabilities of another bondsman. The Commissioner shall not be liable for any of the incurred liabilities of the professional bondsman in excess of the pledged cash security.

§114-103-10. Discontinuance of Business; Cancellation of License; Death, Incapacitation or Incompetence of Bail Bondsman.

10.1. Any bail bondsman who discontinues writing bail bonds during the period for which the bail bondsman is licensed, shall inform the Commissioner, in writing, within ~~thirty (30)~~ days after the discontinuance.

10.2. In the case of death, incapacitation, or incompetence of a licensed bail bondsman, the spouse or surviving spouse, next of kin, person or persons holding a power of attorney, guardian, executor or administrator of the bondsman may contract with another licensed bail bondsman to perform those duties to have the licensee's outstanding bail bond obligations resolved. The contract must be filed with the Commissioner and every clerk of court where it can be determined the bondsman has pending outstanding bail bond obligations.

10.3. A bail bondsman may contract to transfer, convey, or assign the bondsman's business to another licensed bail bondsman. The contract shall include a list of the transferring bondsman's pending, outstanding bail bond obligations and shall be filed with the Commissioner. The contract shall allow for the transferring bondsman to transfer, convey, or assign assets to the purchasing bondsman that include, but are not limited to, any cash or approved securities, with the Commissioner as security for bail bonds. Notwithstanding the filing of the contract with the Commissioner, the transferor remains responsible for all outstanding bond obligations until relieved from an individual obligation or satisfaction of any final judgment of forfeiture entered thereon.

§114-103-11. License Suspension and Revocation.

11.1. Any license issued pursuant to this ~~section~~ rule may, after notice and hearing pursuant to W. Va. Code §§33-2-12 and 33-2-13, be suspended or revoked for good cause at any time by the Commissioner. Good cause includes, but is not limited to:

11.1.1. Any cause for which issuance of the license could have been denied;

11.1.2. Violation of any laws of this State, ~~or any~~ lawful rule, or order of the Commissioner;

11.1.3. Material misstatement, misrepresentation, or fraud in obtaining the license or on the license application or renewal application;

11.1.4. Misappropriation, conversion, or unlawful withholding of monies or property belonging to insurers, insureds, or others received in the conduct of business under the license;

114CSR103

11.1.5. Conviction of, or having entered a plea of guilty or no contest to, any felony crime that substantially relates to the occupation of a bail bondsman and poses a reasonable threat to public safety;

11.1.6. Fraudulent or dishonest practices or demonstrating financial irresponsibility in conducting business under the license;

11.1.7. When the licensee has, in the conduct of affairs under the license, demonstrated incompetency, or untrustworthiness, or conduct or practices rendering the licensee unfit to carry on bonding business or making continuance in the business detrimental to the public interest;

11.1.8. Misrepresentation of the terms of any actual or proposed bond;

11.1.9. Forging the name of another to a bond or application for bond;

11.1.10. Willful failure to return collateral security when the principal is entitled thereto;

11.1.11. Failing to notify the Commissioner of a change of legal name, residence address, business address, mailing address, e-mail address, or telephone number within ~~thirty (30)~~ days after a change is made, or failing to respond to a properly mailed notification within a reasonable amount of time;

11.1.12. Failing to file a report as required by this rule or filing a materially untrue report;

11.1.13. Filing false affidavits;

11.1.14. Failing to pay any required fees or forfeited bonds to a court;

11.1.15. Failing to pay any required fee to the Commissioner;

11.1.16. Posting a bond for any defendant without first obtaining a written or oral agreement with the defendant or cosigner of the bond; or

11.1.17. Committing any of the prohibited acts set forth in section 5 of this rule.

11.2. If a bondsman's authority to post bonds in this State is suspended or revoked for any reason, said bondsman remains responsible for any and all bonds which were outstanding at the time of the suspension or revocation.

11.3. In addition to any applicable denial, suspension or revocation of a license, any person violating any provision of section 11.1 of this rule may be subject to a civil penalty of not more than \$100 per occurrence.

11.4. The Commissioner shall retain jurisdiction as to any person who cancels his or her bail bondsman's license or allows the license to expire, or otherwise lapse, if the person while licensed as a bail bondsman allegedly violated any provisions of this rule.

§114-103-12. Notice of Bankruptcy or Receivership.

Upon the filing for protection under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any state receivership law by any licensed bail bondsman or by any bail bond business in which the bail bondsman holds a position of management or ownership, the bail bondsman shall notify the Commissioner of the filing for protection within five working days after the filing. Failure to notify the Commissioner within five working days after the filing for bankruptcy protection shall cause the bail bondsman's license to be immediately suspended pending further investigation and hearing. The Commissioner will notify all detention facilities and courts

in this State of a bail ~~bondsmen's~~ bondsman's suspension pursuant to this section within five working days thereof. Notification under this section may be made electronically. The Commissioner shall not be liable for any of the incurred liabilities of a bondsman who files for bankruptcy.

§114-103-13. Examinations.

Whenever the Commissioner considers it prudent, the Commissioner ~~shall~~ may visit and examine or cause to be visited and examined by a competent person appointed by the Commissioner for that purpose, any licensed bail bondsman. The Commissioner or person making the examination shall have free access to all records of the licensed bail bondsman that relate to the licensee's business and to the records kept by any of the licensee's agents.

§114-103-14. Records.

All records related to executing bail bonds, including bail bond reports, receipts, collateral security agreements, and memoranda of agreements shall be kept separate from records of any other business and must be maintained for not less than five years after the final entry has been made.

§114-103-15. Reporting.

15.1. In order to evaluate a professional ~~bondsmen's~~ bondsman's financial responsibility, upon request and as often as the Commissioner deems necessary, a professional ~~bail bondsman~~ shall electronically file with the Commissioner a written report ~~on a form, as located at www.wvinsurance.gov, prescribed by the Commissioner~~ showing:

15.1.1. Each individual bonded;

15.1.2. The date the bond was given;

15.1.3. The principal sum of the bond;

15.1.4. The county in which the bond was issued;

~~15.1.4.~~ 15.1.5. The court file or docket number for the principal's court obligation; and

~~15.1.5.~~ 15.1.6. The fee charged for the bonding service in each instance.

15.2. The Commissioner may verify the information provided to him or her pursuant to section 15.1 of this rule with the clerk of the county court in which the bond was issued.

~~15.2.~~ 15.3. Each insurer that appoints surety bondsmen in this State shall electronically file with the Commissioner, a written report in a form, as located at www.wvinsurance.gov, adopted by the Commissioner regarding all bail bonds on which the insurer is liable as of the last day of each calendar quarter showing the total dollar amount for which the insurer is liable. The report shall be filed on or before the 15th day following the end of each calendar quarter.

~~15.3.~~ 15.4. Annual Report by Insurers.

~~15.3.1.~~ 15.4.1. Before July 1 of each year, every insurer shall furnish the Commissioner a list of all surety bondsmen appointed by the insurer to write bail bonds on the insurer's behalf.

~~15.3.2.~~ An insurer who appoints a surety bondsman on or after July 1 of each year shall notify the Commissioner at the time of the appointment.

~~15.4.~~ 15.5. An insurer terminating the appointment of a surety bondsman shall file a written notice of the termination with the Commissioner with a statement that the insurer has given or mailed notice of the termination to the surety bondsman. The notice to the Commissioner shall state the reason(s) for the termination.

15.6. A bondsman shall report to the Commissioner any administrative action taken against the bondsman in another jurisdiction or by another governmental agency in this state within 30 days of the final disposition of the matter. This report shall include a copy of the final order, consent order, settlement agreement, or other relevant documents regarding the administrative action.

15.7. Within 10 days of the initial pretrial hearing date, a bondsman shall report to the Commissioner any criminal prosecution of the bondsman taken in any jurisdiction. The report shall include a copy of the initial criminal complaint filed, the order resulting from the pretrial hearing, and any other relevant legal document.

~~15.5.~~ 15.8. Any law enforcement agency, prosecuting attorney's office, court clerk's office or insurer that is aware that a licensed bail bondsman has been convicted of or has pleaded guilty or no contest to any crime, should immediately notify the Commissioner.

~~15.6.~~ 15.9. The Commissioner may request any additional information or data from a bondsman or insurer that he or she deems necessary to enforce the provisions of this rule.

~~15.7.~~ 15.10. Notwithstanding any other provision of this rule, any documents, materials or other information in the control or possession of the Commissioner and furnished by an insurer or an employee or agent thereof acting on behalf of the insurer, or obtained by the Commissioner in an investigation under this rule, shall be confidential by law and privileged, shall not be considered public records under Chapter 29B of the West Virginia Code, shall not be subject to subpoena, shall not be subject to discovery in any civil action other than a proceeding brought by the Commissioner, and is otherwise subject to the confidentiality and information sharing provisions set forth in W. Va. Code §33-2-19. The Commissioner is authorized to use the documents, materials, or other information in furtherance of any regulatory or legal action brought as part of the Commissioner's official duties.

§114-103-16. Penalties for Violations.

Except as otherwise provided in this rule, any person who violates any of the provisions of this rule shall be penalized in accordance with Chapter 51, Article 10, of the West Virginia Code.

FORM A — TITLE CERTIFICATE FOR BOND

ATTORNEY CERTIFICATION OF PROPERTY USED AS BAIL BOND SECURITY
(use separate form for each parcel on the land books)

This certifies that _____ is the owner of the hereinafter described property subject to certain encumbrances herein noted.

Legal Description Per Land Books: _____

Record Title Owner: _____

Record Title Owner's Source of Title: _____

Assessed Valuation: _____

Encumbrances:

Nature of Encumbrance	Record Reference	Record Amount	Current Amount
_____	_____	_____	_____
_____	_____	_____	_____
_____	_____	_____	_____
_____	_____	_____	_____

Total Amount of Encumbrances: _____

Amount of Surety Provided by Property (assessed value minus encumbrances): _____

Defendant's Name: _____

Case Number (Circuit Court/Magistrate Court): _____

114CSR103

~~This Certificate is expressly made subject to:~~

- ~~1. The correctness and completeness of the indices in the Office of the Clerk of the County Commission
of _____ County, West Virginia.~~
- ~~2. Any unrecorded notice of mechanic's lien.~~
- ~~3. Matters not available of record.~~
- ~~4. Matters of survey and inspection.~~
- ~~5. The payment of delinquency of property taxes.~~
- ~~6. This certificate is for a period of twenty years or to the immediate previous deed in the chain of title,
whichever is longer, and is inclusive to the _____ day of _____, 20_____.~~

Attorney

Address

Draft for Public Comment

FORM B - NOTICE OF BOND ENCUMBRANCE

Notice is hereby given that the following described property [Legal Description of Property (including deed book reference)] is _____

_____ owned by [Legal Title Owner of Property]

is encumbered as security for bonds posted by the owner in his or her capacity as a professional bondsman in criminal cases in the State of West Virginia pursuant to Article 10, Chapter 51 of the Code of West Virginia and is subject to forfeiture to the State of West Virginia until such time as this encumbrance is released.

Dated this _____ day of _____, 20_____.

DOCUMENT is TO BE RETURNED TO: [Name and address of Court]

(To be filled in by County Clerk):

This Notice is recorded in Book _____ @ Page _____